IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2005-IA-00311-SCT

CITIFINANCIAL MORTGAGE COMPANY, INC., FORMERLY KNOWN AS ASSOCIATES HOME EQUITY SERVICES, INC., FORMERLY KNOWN AS FORD CONSUMER FINANCE COMPANY, INC., HARE MORTGAGE, INC. AND JOHN DOES A-Z

APPELLANT/ DEFENDANT

V.

ROSIE WASHINGTON AND CATHERLEAN CRAFT

APPELLEES/ PLAINTIFFS

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT, JASPER COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT CITIFINANCIAL MORTGAGE COMPANY, INC. (ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

H. Mitchell Cowan, MB # Laura Limerick Gibbes, MB WATKINS LUDLAM WINTER & STENNIS, P.A. Post Office Box 427
Jackson, Mississippi
Telephone: (601) 949-4900

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. The trial court erred in denying Citifinancial Mortgage Company, Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgment. Mississippi law does not recognize a cause of action against a lender for failing to offer a borrower the "best" loan available, nor does it recognize a cause of action for failure to advise the borrower of alternative payment scenario outside of the loan terms. Plaintiffs have failed, as a matter of law, to raise any genuine issue of material fact as to the claims asserted in their Complaint and summary judgment should have been granted in favor of CitiFinancial.
- 2. The trial court erred in its determination that Plaintiffs' claims are not barred by the statute of limitations.
- 3. The trial court erred in its determination that Plaintiffs' claims were not previously settled and released.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2005-IA-00311-SCT

CITIFINANCIAL MORTGAGE COMPANY, INC., FORMERLY KNOWN AS ASSOCIATES HOME EQUITY SERVICES, INC., FORMERLY KNOWN AS FORD CONSUMER FINANCE COMPANY, INC., HARE MORTGAGE, INC. AND JOHN DOES A-Z

APPELLANT/ DEFENDANT

V.

ROSIE WASHINGTON AND CATHERLEAN CRAFT

APPELLEES/ PLAINTIFFS

BRIEF OF APPELLANT CITIFINANCIAL MORTGAGE COMPANY, INC.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. THE COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE TRIBUNAL BELOW

This action was filed on November 19, 2001 by Plaintiffs Rosie Washington and Catherlean Craft, asserting various claims arising from a loan Plaintiffs obtained from Ford Consumer Finance ("Ford") on November 29, 1995. (R. 5-13; R.E. 27-35). Named as defendants were CitiFinancial Mortgage Company, Inc., a successor in interest to Ford; Hare Mortgage Company, Inc. ("Hare Mortgage"), the mortgage broker through which Plaintiffs obtained the loan at issue; and John Does A-Z. (R. 5-13; R.E. 27-35).

In their Complaint, Plaintiffs allege that they obtained a loan from Ford in the principal amount of \$31,480.00. (R. 5-6; R.E. 27-28). Plaintiffs allege that Rhonda Hare, the Hare Mortgage employee with whom Plaintiffs dealt, represented to them "that the loan being made to them only required them to make monthly payments of \$400.57 for 180 months to completely satisfy the obligation." (R. 6; R.E. 28). Plaintiffs contend that none of

the Defendants disclosed to them that, after making these monthly payments, Plaintiffs would still owe a balloon payment of \$28,878.20 at the end of the loan term. (R. 6; R.E. 28). Finally, Plaintiffs assert that they filed suit "withing [sic] the requisite statute of limitations since first coming to know in October of 1999 that their payment of \$400.57 per month for 180 months would not fully satisfy this obligation and would still require them to pay and [sic] additional [\$128,878.20 after making these payments for 15 years." (R. 6; R.E. 28).

Based on these factual allegations, Plaintiffs asserted claims against CitiFinancial and Hare Mortgage for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing (Count I); economic duress (Count II); negligence (Count III); intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress (Count IV); constructive fraud (Count V); rescission and cancellation (Count VI); and violation of the Mississippi Unfair or Deceptive Acts and Practices Act (Count VII). (R. 7-12; R.E. 29-34). Although not set forth in separate counts of the Complaint, Plaintiffs generally assert that Defendants breached fiduciary duties to the Plaintiffs and committed various forms of fraud. (R. 5-13; R.E. 27-35).

On February 21, 2002, CitiFinancial answered the Complaint, asserting among other defenses that Plaintiffs' claims were barred by the statute of limitations. (R. 33-42; R.E. 36-45). CitiFinancial also asserted that Plaintiffs' claims had been compromised and released as a result of settlements Plaintiffs had reached in earlier consumer finance litigation. (R. 38; R.E. 41).

Subsequently, discovery was conducted in this case. When Plaintiffs were deposed, they revealed significant facts that were directly contrary to the allegations contained in their Complaint. Plaintiffs did not testify to any alleged misrepresentations made to them by Hare Mortgage concerning the terms of the loan. Instead, Plaintiffs testified that Hare Mortgage made no misrepresentations at all.

Deposition of Rosie Washington

- Q. Is there anything that you think that the lady at Hare ever told you that was not the truth?
- A. Anything I think she told me wasn't the truth?
- Q. Yes, ma'am. Do you think she ever told you something that was a lie or something that was not the truth?
- A. No, because I didn't have that much dealing with her after she got the application filled out.

(R. 389; R.E. 84).

Deposition of Catherlean Craft

- Q. I'm going to hand you, Ms. Craft, what was marked as Exhibit 10, that's a copy of the Complaint that was filed in this lawsuit. If you will look at the top of page 2 it says, "The defendants' employee/agent, Rhonda Hare, told and represented to Rosie Washington and Catherlean Craft that the loan being made to them only required them to make monthly payments of \$400.57 for 180 months to completely satisfy the obligation". Did Ms. Hare ever tell you that?

 MR. FITZGERALD: Again, objection. The complaint speaks for itself. You can answer.
- A. No.

(R. 1006-1007; R.E. 146-147).

Based on Plaintiffs' testimony as well as other undisputed facts in the case, CitiFinancial filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on December 13, 2004. (R. 921-1053; R.E. 150-157). In its Motion, CitiFinancial demonstrated that Plaintiffs' claims were timebarred or had otherwise been released as part of earlier settlement agreements. (R. 921-1053; R.E. 150-157). Further, CitiFinancial also demonstrated that, as a matter of both fact and law, Plaintiffs had failed to establish any viable claim against it. (R. 921-1053; R.E. 150-157).

In response to the Motion for Summary Judgment, Plaintiffs abandoned their theory that the terms of the loan had been misrepresented to them. Instead, Plaintiffs argued that CitiFinancial was now liable to them for not offering them a "better" loan and not disclosing

that an increase in their monthly payments would have eliminated the balloon payment at the end of the loan term. (R. 1064-1133; R.E. 158-178). Plaintiffs advanced their new theory of recovery despite the fact that it was never pled in their Complaint and despite the fact that they did not even qualify for the loan they now say CitiFinancial should have offered to them. (R.E. 181-184).

A hearing on CitiFinancial's Motion for Summary Judgment was conducted on January 7, 2005. The Court took the Motion under advisement and subsequently entered an Order on February 10, 2005, denying it in nearly all respects. (Tr. 1-18, R. 1222-1223; R.E. 24, 5-6) In its Order, the Court granted the Motion for Summary Judgment as to Plaintiffs' claims for economic duress and violation of the Mississippi Unfair or Deceptive Acts & Practices Act. (R. 1222-1223; R.E.5-6). However, the Court denied summary judgment as to all remaining claims and on the statute of limitations and release defenses CitiFinancial had raised as a bar to Plaintiffs' claims. (R. 1222-1223; R.E. 5-6). The Court also denied CitiFinancial's request for an interlocutory appeal of the Order denying summary judgment. (R. 1223; R.E. 6).

On February 11, 2005, CitiFinancial filed a Petition for Interlocutory Appeal with this Court. (R.E. 185-201). The Court granted CitiFinancial's Petition and entered a stay of all further proceedings in the trial court until this Interlocutory Appeal is decided. (R. 1304-1305; R.E. 202-203).

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 29, 1995, Plaintiffs obtained a loan from Ford, a predecessor in interest to CitiFinancial. The loan was obtained through Hare Mortgage, which served as Plaintiffs' mortgage broker. (R. 1008-1009; R.E. 204-205). The loan was in the principal amount of \$31,480.00, carried an interest rate of 15.1%, and required Plaintiffs to make 180 monthly

payments of \$400.57 and a final balloon payment of \$28,878.20. (R. 1008-1009; R.E. 204-205). Plaintiffs did not qualify for any other loan offered by Ford. (R.E. 181-184).

Although Plaintiffs' Complaint alleges that Hare Mortgage misrepresented the terms of the loan to them, Plaintiffs testified in their depositions that no misrepresentations were made to them about the loan.

Deposition of Rosie Washington:

- Q. You just said that she called and told you that the loan went through?
- A. That's what she told me.
- Q. Being as specific as you can, Ms. Washington, I want you to tell me everything you remember that she said to you?
- A. She just told me my loan went through. I forgot what date she said I could go complete it. I forgot what date it was.
- Q. Is that the only thing that she said to you?
- A. Yeah.
- O. Did you ask her any questions about the loan?
- A. No.
- Q. Did you ask her how much money you were borrowing?
- A. No.
- O. Did you ask her about the terms of the loan?
- A. No.
- Q. Did you ask her how much your monthly payment was going to be?
- A. No.
- Q. Did you ask her how many months you were going to have to pay?
- A. No.
- Q. You never asked any questions about what your monthly payment was going to be?
- A. No, I didn't know until we signed the last business thing from the loan.
- Q. So before you went to the loan closing you didn't have any idea how much money you had borrowed?
- A. No.
- Q. You didn't know what your monthly payment was going to be?
- A. No.
- Q. Did you know what the term of your loan was going to be?
- A. No.
- Q. Did you know how many months you would have to pay?
- A. No.
- Q. Did you know whether there would be a balloon feature for the note?

- A. No.
- Q. Did you know what the interest rate was going to be?
- A. No.
- Q. And nobody at Hare ever discussed any of those things with you?
- A. Nobody else?
- Q. At Hare Mortgage?
- A. No.

* * * * * *

- Q. Is there anything that you think that the lady at Hare ever told you that was not the truth?
- A. Anything I think she told me wasn't the truth?
- Q. Yes, ma'am. Do you think she ever told you something that was a lie or something that was not the truth?
- A. No, because I didn't have that much dealing with her after she got the application filled out.

(R. 948-952, 389, 981-982; R.E. 68-72, 84, 111-112).

Deposition of Catherlean Craft:

- Q. Tell me what happened when you went into Hare?
- A. She just said, asked me was I going to be the co-signer. I say, yeah, and she asked for my name and address and all the credit I had, like that.
- Q. Was this the same woman that your mother had met with?
- A. Uh-huh (Affirmative).
- Q. Do you remember her name?
- A. All I know it Hare.
- Q. Other than that one visit with Hare did you have any other communication with Hare at all about the loan?
- A. No.
- Q. No telephone conversations?
- A. Uh-uh (Negative).
- Q. And you never went back into the office?
- A. No.

Q. I'm going to hand you, Ms. Craft, what was marked as Exhibit 10, that's a copy of the Complaint that was filed in this lawsuit. If you will look at the top of page 2 it says, "The defendants' employee/agent, Rhonda Hare, told and represented to Rosie Washington and Catherlean Craft that the loan being made to them only required them to make monthly payments of \$400.57 for 180 months to completely satisfy the obligation". Did Ms. Hare ever tell you that?

MR. FITZGERALD: Again, objection. The complaint speaks for itself. You can answer.

A. No.

(R. 987-988, 990, 1003, 1006-1007; R.E. 117-118, 120, 146-147).

Plaintiffs' loan was closed on November 29, 2005 at the law offices of Frank Youngblood. Plaintiffs concede they were provided with all of their loan documents at the time of the loan closing, including but not limited to a copy of the Note and a Truth In Lending Statement, both of which clearly disclosed the terms of Plaintiffs' loan, including the balloon payment. (R. 1008-1010; R.E. 204-206). Plaintiffs had an opportunity to ask Mr. Youngblood any questions they had about the loan. (R. 381-382, 955-957, 994-1002; R.E. 76-80, 133-141). At the conclusion of the loan closing, Plaintiffs were provided with a complete set of their loan documents, which remained in their possession at all times thereafter.

Deposition of Rosie Washington:

- Q. Now, after you left Mr. Youngblood's office that day did he give you any documents to take with you?
- A. He give me the copies.
- Q. Copies of the documents that you had signed?
- A. Yeah.
- Q. And what did you do with those documents?
- A. Carried them home.
- Q. And did you keep them in a particular place?
- A. Yeah.
- Q. Where did you keep them in your house?
- A. In my chest drawer.
- Q. And did you at any point after the loan closing ever take the documents out and look at them?
- A. No.
- Q. Did you ever ask anybody to review the documents for you?
- A. Let me go back to that question you just asked me before you asked that one.
- Q. Okay. I had asked, after the loan closing did you ever read your loan documents?
- A. No, I didn't.

(R. 971-972; R.E. 100-101). Plaintiffs concede, however, that a review of the loan documents would have been sufficient to place them on notice of the claims asserted in their Complaint. Indeed, Plaintiffs contend that they finally did become aware of their claims when the loan documents were reviewed by a sales representative from another lender, who purportedly informed Plaintiffs that the Ford loan contained a balloon payment at the end of the loan term. (R. 972-973; R.E. 101-102). Plaintiffs, however, cannot recall when that alleged conversation occurred and specifically could not testify that it had occurred in October of 1999 or at any other time within three years of the filing of the Complaint. (R. 972-976; R.E. 101-105).

Plaintiffs' claims that they were misled about the terms of this loan are not unique. Prior to filing this lawsuit, each of the Plaintiffs had filed and then settled other lawsuits in which they alleged they had been misled about the terms of other loans they had obtained. Those cases involved loans Plaintiffs made through First Family Financial Services, Inc., an affiliate corporation of CitiFinancial. On November 9, 2001, Plaintiff Washington, upon the advice and consent of her attorney, signed a Settlement Agreement and Release that provided she was releasing all claims she had against

(a) First Family, (b) its present, former and future parent, subsidiary, and affiliated companies (including without limitation... CitiFinancial Corporation; CitiFinancial, Inc.; CitiGroup, Inc.; . . . and (d) each of the foregoing insurers, reinsurers, predecessors in interest, and successors, and these companies' past, present and future officers, directors, employees, servants, attorneys, legal and beneficial shareholders, partners, privies, representatives, assigns and agents (collectively, the "Releasees") of and from all manner of actions, cause of action, lawsuits, claims, damages, debts, obligations, liabilities, promises, defenses, agreements, costs, expenses (including attorneys' fees), and demands of whatever kind or nature, whether known or unknown, that [Rosie Washington now has, had, or may hereinafter claim to have, in law or equity, whether based on statute, tort, contract, or other theory or recovery, as of the date of the Agreement, including without limitation those which . . . (ii) arise from, are related to, are based upon, or are connected with any loan, note, extension of credit, refinancing, purchase of credit insurance, or other dealings between [Rosie Washington] and First Family and/or any other of the Releasees; (iii) arise from, are related to, are based upon or are connected with claims of . . .; misrepresentation of loan amounts;

(R. 1011-1018; R.E. 207-214) (emphasis added).

Likewise, on June 18, 2001, Plaintiff Craft, upon the advice and consent of her attorney, entered into a settlement agreement releasing First Family Financial Services, Inc., First Family Financial Services Management Corporation, Associates Financial Services Company, Inc., Associates Investment Corporation, Associates Corporation of North America, and Associates First Capital Corporation, as well as

their present, former, and future parent, subsidiary, and affiliated companies (including without limitation . . . CitiFinancial, Inc. and CitiGroup, Inc.), . . . and . . . each of the foregoing's . . . predecessors in interest, and successors, and these companies' past, present, and future . . . agents . . . of and from all manner of actions, causes of actions, lawsuits, claims, damages, debts, obligations, liabilities, promises, defenses, agreements, costs, expenses (including attorneys' fees) and demands of whatever kind or nature, whether known or unknown, that [Catherlean Craft] has, had, or may hereinafter claim to have, in law or equity..., as of the date of this Agreement, including without limitation those which . . . arise from, are related to, are based upon, or connected with any loan, note, extension of credit, refinancing, purchase of credit insurance, or other dealings between [Catherlean Craft] and Defendants and/or any other of the releasees.

(R. 1019-1023; R.E. 215-219) (emphasis added). Because CitiFinancial is within the group of entities defined as a "Releasee" in both agreements, Plaintiffs released all claims they are attempting to assert against CitiFinancial in this lawsuit.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This interlocutory appeal raises important issues that have serious implications for lenders in Mississippi. Despite the absence of any such claim in their Complaint, Plaintiffs contend that CitiFinancial should be liable to them because it failed to offer them a "better" loan than the one to which they agreed and failed to disclose to them that an increase in their monthly payments would have eliminated the balloon payment at the end of the loan term.

Plaintiffs' latest theory should not be allowed to defeat CitiFinancial's Motion for Summary Judgment. Mississippi law does not recognize a duty to offer a borrower the "best" loan available. In any event, Plaintiffs did not even qualify for the loan they now contend they should have been offered. Moreover, CitiFinancial did not have any duty to disclose to Plaintiffs that a higher monthly payment would have satisfied the loan after 180 monthly installments and eliminated the balloon payment on the note. Mississippi law does not recognize a legal duty, fiduciary or otherwise, to disclose such information to a borrower under the circumstances presented here.

Plaintiffs' claims are meritless for other reasons as well. Plaintiffs' claims are barred by the statute of limitations as a matter of well-established Mississippi law. The loan terms were clearly disclosed to Plaintiffs in writing in November 1995. It is undisputed that Plaintiffs have possessed signed copies of their loan documents since 1995. As a matter of law, Plaintiffs knew in 1995 that their loan contained a balloon payment at the end of the loan term. Nevertheless, they did not file suit until November of 2001, six years later. Mississippi's three-year statute of limitations clearly bars their claims.

This case also should be summarily dismissed because Plaintiffs settled and released their claims against CitiFinancial prior to filing this lawsuit. CitiFinancial is one of numerous subsidiaries and affiliates of Citigroup, Inc. and is included within the group of

"Releasees" named in settlement agreements signed by Plaintiffs prior to filing this litigation.

The claims asserted here all fall within the scope of those settlement agreements. Under these facts, Plaintiffs should not be allowed to breach the terms of those settlement agreements and continue to pursue the claims asserted here.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in denying CitiFinancial's Motion for Summary Judgment. Mississippi law does not recognize a cause of action against a lender for failing to offer the "best" loan available.

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