IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2005-IA-00311-SCT

CITIFINANCIAL MORTGAGE COMPANY, INC., FORMERLY KNOWN AS ASSOCIATES HOME EQUITY SERVICES, INC., FORMERLY KNOWN AS FORD CONSUMER FINANCE COMPANY, INC., HARE MORTGAGE, INC. AND JOHN DOES A-Z

APPELLANTS

VS.

ROSIE WASHINGTON AND CATHERLEAN CRAFT

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT, JASPER COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES ROSIE WASHINGTON AND CATHERLEAN CRAFT (ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

W. Lewis Garrison, Jr. GARRISON SCOTT, P. C. 2224 1st Avenue North Birmingham, Alabama 35203 Telephone: (205) 326-3336 Facsimile: (205) 326-3332

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

The Defendant asks this Honorable Court to ignore the fact that Defendant, Hare Mortgage Company, unequivocally states that the Plaintiffs should have been informed of other loan packages available. (R. 1088-89). Further, the Defendant asks this Court to give lending companies a blank check to write any type of contract whether usury, unconscionable, or otherwise, with impunity. Throughout the Defendant's lengthy treatise in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, there is a constant reliance on the alleged lack of any fiduciary relationship between the Plaintiffs and the Defendants. To wax eloquent for a moment, this premise is the wall Defendant hides behind to allow deliberate and selective predatory practice.

Plaintiffs recognize this ploy and offer the following simple premise to thwart the erroneous contention the Defendant tries to force the Court to accept by constant referral to the legal tenants involved. Simply stated, there is a fiduciary duty owed to the Plaintiffs because the Defendants *say* there is a duty owed. Hare *admits* that the Plaintiffs *should have been told* of the availability of other loan programs, and more importantly, *Hare places the blame for such omission on CitiFinancial*. (R. 1088-89). However, CitiFinancial claims that *Hare* was responsible for choosing the loan offered to the Plaintiffs. (R. 1092). It is apparent, however, that both agree it was *somebody's* duty. There is no need to argue about the creation of a fiduciary relationship, when the Defendants themselves allege that somebody breached a duty owed to the Plaintiffs. The learned trial court judge agreed and found that a jury should address the genuine issues of fact and determine where this duty lies. The Defendant disliked the trial Court's ruling, and by filing an interlocutory appeal, seeks to use this Court as a "super trial court judge" to obtain a summary judgement.

(1) <u>There are genuine issues of fact concerning breach of covenant of good faith</u> and Fair Dealing and/or Negligence:

"All contracts contain an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in performance and enforcement." *Cenac v. Murry*, 609 So.2d 1257, 1272 (Miss. 1992). "Good faith is the faithfulness of an agreed purpose which is consistent with justified expectations of the other

6

party. The breach of good faith is bad faith characterized by some conduct which violates standards of decency, fairness or reasonableness. *Id.* The *Cenac* court explained the covenant as follows:

In recent years, courts have often supplied a term requiring both parties to a contract to exercise what is called 'good faith' or sometimes 'good faith and fair dealing.' This duty is based on fundamental notions of fairness, and its scope necessarily varies according to the nature of the agreement. *Some conduct, such as subterfuge and evasion, clearly violates the duty.* However, the duty may not only proscribe undesirable conduct, *but may require affirmative action as well.*

Id. (citing Farnsworth, *Contracts*, § 7.17. 526-27 (1982))(emphasis added). There is ample evidence and testimony establishing a genuine issue of material fact concerning the breach of Good Faith and Fair Dealing. As noted above, Defendant CitiFinancial and Defendant Hare admit that the Plaintiffs were never told about or offered the loan program which would have allowed the loan to be paid in full without the exorbitant balloon payment.[#] (R. 1088-89, 1092-95, 1107, 1112). More importantly, Defendant Hare testified that CitiFinancial should have told the Plaintiffs about the 15 year fixed term with no balloon. (R. 1088-89). Plaintiffs' expert, Professor Marsh, has clearly characterized the lending practice associated with the loan in question as predatory which he defines as a loan where the predominate interest is self interest rather than the interest of the Plaintiffs. (R. 1125). Finally, the Mississippi Legislature has held that negligence is a question of fact for the jury. *Miss. Code Ann.* § 11-7-17.

1P's enderee

(2) <u>There are genuine issues of fact concerning unconscionability, rescission and</u> <u>cancellation</u>:

Plaintiffs' claim of rescission and cancellation necessarily incorporate all legal mechanisms for rescinding or canceling a contract, namely unconscionability. In the lower Court, Defendant failed to seek Summary Judgment on this issue. The trial Court correctly found

7

that genuine issues of material fact were present on the above equitable claims and denied summary judgement.

Mississippi law clearly recognizes that contracts can be procedurally and substantively unconscionable. *East Ford, Inc. v. Taylor*, 826 So.2d 709, 714 (Miss. 2002). (citing *Pridgen v. Green Tree Fin. Servicing Corp.*, 88 F.Supp.2d 655 (S.D. Miss. 2000). "Procedural unconscionability may be proven by showing '<u>a lack of knowledge</u>, lack of voluntariness, inconspicious print, <u>the use of complex legalistic language</u>, <u>disparity and sophistication or</u> <u>bargaining power of the parties</u> and/or a <u>lack of opportunity to study the contract</u> and inquire about the contract terms." *Id.* (emphasis added). Additionally, the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that substantive unconscionability "may be proven by showing the **terms** of the. . . agreement to be <u>oppressive</u>." *Id.* (citing *York v. Georgia-Pac. Corp.*, 585 F.Supp. 1265, 1278 (N.D. Miss. 1984)(emphasis added). The Mississippi Supreme Court has examined unconscionability and stated the following:

Unconscionability has been defined as "an absence of meaningful choice on the part of one of the parties, together with contract terms which are unreasonably favorable to the other party." To show that a provision is unconscionable, the party seeking to uphold the provision must show that the provision bears some reasonable relationship to the risk and needs of business.

East Ford, Inc. v. Taylor, 826 So.2d at 715. (citing Entergy Miss. Inc. v. Burdette Gin Co., 726
So.2d 1202 (Miss. 1998); Bank of Indiana, Nat'l Ass'n v. Holyfield, 476 F.Supp. 104, 109 (S.D.
Miss. 1979)). Further the Mississippi Supreme Court has defined an unconscionable contract as
"one such as no man in his senses and not under a delusion would make on the one hand, and
as no honest and fair man would accept on the other. . ." In re Will of Johnson, 351 So.2d
1339, 1341 (Miss. 1977)(emphasis added). In the Holyfield case, the Court discussed procedural

unconscionability as follows:

The indicators of procedurally unconscionability generally fall into two areas: (1) *lack of knowledge*, and (2) lack of voluntariness. A lack of knowledge is demonstrated by a *lack of understanding of the contract terms arising from* inconspicuous print or *the use of complex, legalistic language, disparity in sophistication of parties*, and *lack of opportunity to study the contract* and inquire about contract terms. <u>A lack of voluntariness is demonstrated in contract</u> of adhesion when there is a great imbalance in the parties' relative bargaining power, the stronger party's terms are unnegotiable, and the weaker party is prevented by market factors, timing or other pressures from being able to contract with another party on more favorable terms or to refrain from contracting at all.

Holyfield, 476 F. Supp. at 109-10. (citations omitted)(emphasis added). Finally, the Mississippi Supreme Court has defined a contract of adhesion "as one that is 'drafted unilaterally by the dominant party and then presented on a 'take-it-or-leave-it' basis to the weaker party who has no real opportunity to bargain about its terms." *East Ford, Inc. v. Taylor*, 826 So.2d at 716. (citing *Bank of Indiana, Nat'l Ass'n v. Holyfield*, 476 F. Supp. 104, 108 (S.D. Miss. 1979)(quoting Restatement 2d, Conflicts § 203, Comment b).

It cannot be denied that the loan contract Plaintiffs entered into was a contract of adhesion and was both procedurally and substantively unconscionable. At the very least, there is a genuine issue of material fact concerning these issues which should be presented to a jury.

On the face of Plaintiffs' pleadings, this loan is procedurally and substantively unconscionable. This "loan" would ensure that the Defendants receive \$100,580.23 in payments from Ms. Washington, of which \$69,100.23 would be *interest*. In addition, at the end of this 15 year payment period, the "loan" by the Defendants required Ms. Washington to pay a lump sum "balloon" payment of \$28,878.20. Keep in mind the original loan was for \$31,480.00. The "loan" was specifically tailored to require Ms. Washington to pay the Defendants **\$400.57** for 15

years, knowing full well that the principle balance would be reduced by only \$2,601.80. It was apparent that the Plaintiffs were poor, uneducated Mississippi citizens who were in a weaker bargaining position both in sophistication and financial resources. This is precisely the type of contract which the Supreme Court of Mississippi described as an unconscionable contract "<u>such</u> <u>as no man in his senses and not under a delusion would make on the one hand, and as no</u> <u>honest and fair man would accept on the other</u>. . ." In re Will of Johnson, 351 So.2d at 1341.

Plaintiffs' expert has described this loan as a "train wreck." (R. 1122). Plaintiffs' expert has described this loan as predatory. (R. 1125). Additionally, a borrower is only able to make decisions concerning a loan contract based on what "contract" is presented. (R. 1124). The Plaintiffs were never presented any other contract options, although reasonable options were available, so there actually was "an absence of meaningful choice on the part of one of the parties, together with contract terms which are unreasonably favorable to the other party." *East Ford, Inc. v. Taylor*, 826 So.2d at 715. (citing *Entergy Miss. Inc. v. Burdette Gin Co.*, 726 So.2d 1202 (Miss. 1998); *Bank of Indiana, Nat'l Ass'n v. Holyfield*, 476 F.Supp. 104, 109 (S.D. Miss. 1979)). The Plaintiffs have clearly shown that there is a genuine issue concerning the elements necessary to show procedural and substantive unconscionability. Plaintiff, Rosie Washington, had no financial understanding of what a "balloon payment" was let alone how it effected principal and interest.

- Q. Did you have an understanding of what a balloon payment is?
- A. No.
- Q. If you were told that you would still owe \$28,000 after paying over \$100,000 on your loan would you have entered into this loan?
- A. No.
- Q. If you were given the opportunity to pay \$42 more and pay the loan off at the end of the period would you have done that?

A. Yes.

(R. 1112).

Q. Now, you were asked if you just looked at this document, you were asked by defense counsel that if you just looked at this [loan] document could you tell that there was a balloon payment?

A. No.

Q. Because you didn't know what a balloon payment was at that time did you?

A. No.

Q. So when she asked you do you understand it now, is it because you are familiar with this lawsuit now and what happened?

A. Yeah.

- Q. But back at the time when you signed defense Exhibit 3, and you signed it because you trusted them, right?
- A. Right.
- Q. You didn't know what a balloon payment was did you?

* * *

A. No.

(R. 1181). The Defendants were able to succeed in their predatory practices by presenting themselves as a trustworthy company dedicated to lending a helping hand to clients like Ms.Washington. They created a friendly environment, took advantage of the Plaintiffs' lack of financial savvy and education, and pushed loan documents in front of them stating, "sign here." (R. 1100-03, 1128-31, 1133).

(3) <u>There are genuine issues of fact concerning predatory lending which is</u> <u>negligent, a breach of good faith and fair dealing and fraudulent:</u>

It cannot be over stressed that the objective observations of Plaintiffs' expert, Professor Gene Marsh, clearly indicates that a reasonably prudent company acting fairly should never have offered this loan package to individuals such as the Plaintiffs. Professor Marsh went as far as to say that, faced with the option of providing the loan package presented to the Plaintiffs or not providing a loan at all, the Defendant, in good conscience and prudence, should not have given the loan at all. (R. 1171-72). Plaintiffs' expert has described this loan as predatory. (R. 1121). Further, Plaintiffs' expert opined that the Defendant was not prudent in providing this loan to Plaintiffs based on their age and financial status. (R. 1121). It cannot be denied that the State of Mississippi requires the Defendant to act as a reasonably prudent lending company. The expert testimony presented to this honorable Court by the Plaintiffs establishes that there is a genuine issue of material fact that the Defendants failed to act as a fair and reasonably prudent lending company, but rather consciously took advantage of Plaintiffs' lack of understanding in order to set in place an oppressive agreement. The blatant imbalance associated with the amount of money borrowed, compared to the money required to be paid back by the Plaintiffs, is apparent and speaks for itself.

Additionally, the Plaintiffs obtained an Affidavit executed by Professor Gene Marsh wherein Professor Marsh references a recent study performed by The University of North Carolina (UNC) at Chapel Hill. This study addresses CitiFinancial Mortgage Company, Inc.'s subprime home loans <u>with balloon payments</u>, and supports Plaintiffs' expert's opinions. This Honorable Court should note the opening statement in the UNC study which defines predatory loan terms as "prepayment penalties and balloon payments." (R. 1200). Finding that "loans with balloon payments, . . . face a 46 percent greater odds of entering foreclosure than loans without such terms", the authors of the study implore this Court to take note of "the significant financial and emotional costs associated with foreclosure on families and neighborhoods." (R. 1201). Companies like the Defendant are willing to engage in this type of practice to reap the huge interests and profits at the expenses of Mississippi's poor citizens. If not held accountable, companies like CitiFinancial will continue to engage in predatory lending practices in complete disregard of the financial and emotional destruction of Mississippi citizens.

(4) <u>There are Genuine Issues of Fact Concerning Fraud, Fraudulent</u> <u>Concealment and Misrepresentation:</u>

omission = affirmative act of concealing

An "omission or concealment of material facts can constitute a misrepresentation, just as can a positive, direct assertion." Davidson v. Rogers, 431 So.2d 483, 485 (Miss. 1983)(emphasis added). "In order to recover damages for fraudulent concealment, appellant must demonstrate that appellee took some action, affirmative in nature, which was designed or intended to prevent and which did prevent, the discovery of the facts giving rise to the fraud claim." Id. In Davidson, the act of concealment through repairs to a residence, and the omission of disclosing those repairs, were the affirmative act sufficient to prove fraud/fraudulent concealment. It is apparent that the Defendants intentionally and fraudulently concealed, by omission, the availability of an alternative loan. As noted above, a simple amortization report would have revealed that for a meager \$42.18 more per month, the Plaintiffs could have paid the loan off at the end of the loan period and could have avoided the exorbitant balloon payment. No amortization report was ever run. Further, the Defendants never *informed* the Plaintiffs that for \$42.18 more per month they could have paid the loan off without having a balloon payment. Contrary to the Defendants claim, Plaintiffs' expert, Professor Gene Marsh, testified in his deposition that Rosie Washington should have never been offered the loan in question and she would have qualified for the 15 (fifteen) year fixed term loan with no balloon payment. (R. 1120-21, 1123). Clearly there is a genuine issue of material fact concerning fraudulent concealment/misrepresentation.

II. The trial court correctly found that there were genuine issues of fact that the Plaintiffs, after discovering their claims, filed suit within the statutory time period.

Assuming, without conceding, that at the time of the closing, terms of the loan were

completely disclosed, without any oral misrepresentations, in the loan documents, the Plaintiffs

claims are not barred by the Statute of Limitations. The Defendant's failure to address the

following issue of fact highlights its importance in determining whether or not the statute was

tolled: no document, contract, or written disclosure, signed or unsigned by the Plaintiffs, exists

appraising the Plaintiffs that they qualified for a 15 year fixed term loan with no balloon

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